Filed 02-13-2024

Case No. 2023 AP 001556

Page 1 of 45

FILED 02-13-2024

CLERK OF WISCONSIN

In the State of Wisconsin Court of Appeals District II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered on August 22, 2023 in the Circuit Court of Manitowoc County, Case Number: 2005CF000381. The Honorable **Angela W. Sutkiewicz**, Presiding Judge.

CORRECTED BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT STEVEN A. AVERY

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Whether the circuit court improperly imposed a burden on Mr. Avery to conclusively prove the *Denny* motive element in order to satisfy the materiality prongs of *State v. Edmunds*, 2008 WI App 33, 308 Wis. 2d 374, 746 N.W.2d 590 and *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)?

The circuit court answered: No.

II. Whether the circuit court erred when it did not correctly apply *State*v. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984) to Mr. Avery's potential third-party suspect evidence?

The circuit court answered: No.

III. Whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in

denying Mr. Avery an evidentiary hearing because its factual findings are unsupported by the evidence?

The circuit court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.22 (2022), Appellant does not request oral argument. A publication is warranted because the case is of interest to the public.

INTRODUCTION

Mr. Avery appeals the circuit court's denial of his amended third postconviction motion because the opinion erroneously relies upon false facts and misapplies the law in denying Mr. Avery's request for an evidentiary hearing. The circuit court misinterprets S*tate v. Denny*, 120 Wis.2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984) as requiring conclusive proof of motive to satisfy the materiality requirement of *State v. Edmunds*, 208 WI 33, 308 Wis, 2d 374, 746 N.W.2d 590. It further erroneously requires the alleged third party suspect to have the "necessary skills" to manipulate evidence in a manner that would implicate the defendant to satisfy the opportunity prong of *Denny*.

The circuit court concludes Bobby's possession of Ms. Halbach's car does not directly connect him to her murder or the framing of Mr. Avery because "Bobby could have been in possession of the car that night . . . to help hide evidence to protect *the two individuals* directly linked by forensic evidence to this murder and convicted of the crime." (1132:27, emphasis added).¹ Furthermore, the circuit court relies upon Brendan Dassey's "confession" stating that the confession "specifically implicated" Mr. Avery in this crime, to support its decision denying Mr. Avery relief. (1132:24-25). Brendan Dassey's confession was not admitted as evidence in Mr. Avery's trial (486:1-2), and the circuit court should know this basic fact. Second, the circuit court mistakenly believes Brendan was linked to the crime forensically. He was not, another basic fact that has escaped detection by the circuit court.

¹ Citations to the record on appeal appear with the document number before the colon and the page number after the colon. Citations to different documents in the record are separated by semicolons. Mr. Avery shall cite to the concurrently filed Separate Appendix as "App. [page number(s)]."

The circuit court proposes a completely irrational justification to explain Bobby's actions in moving Ms. Halbach's vehicle onto the Avery property: Bobby was trying to help his uncle by hiding evidence. In the circuit court's nonsensical conclusion, because these actions could be seen as an effort by Bobby to help Mr. Avery, Bobby cannot be considered a valid *Denny* suspect. The circuit court fails to explain why if Bobby was simply lending a helping hand to his homicidal uncle, he would then become the State's primary eyewitness against Mr. Avery or why all of the forensic evidence used to convict Mr. Avery is not discovered until Bobby moves Ms. Halbach's vehicle onto the Avery property.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This case began in early November 2005 with the disappearance of Teresa Halbach, a twenty-five-year-old professional photographer. On November 5, 2005, volunteer searchers found Ms. Halbach's Toyota RAV-4 on the forty-acre site of Avery's Auto Salvage. After finding her RAV-4, law enforcement searched the Avery property and, over the next four months, discovered evidence including: burned bone fragments in and around a burn pit, with DNA matching Ms. Halbach's; Mr. Avery's and Ms. Halbach's blood in the RAV-4; remnants of electronic devices and a camera, the same models as Ms. Halbach's, in a burn barrel; Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 key in Mr. Avery's bedroom, with Mr. Avery's DNA on it; Mr. Avery's DNA on the hood latch of the RAV-4 (deposited, the State later claimed by his "sweaty hands"); and a bullet in Mr. Avery's garage containing Ms. Halbach's DNA.

During the trial, Bobby was the State's primary eyewitness against Mr. Avery. According to Bobby, Ms. Halbach was last seen walking towards Mr. Avery's trailer on October 31, 2005. The State used Bobby's testimony to establish that Ms. Halbach never left the Avery property alive. (589:103–04). If Bobby had told the truth that he saw Ms. Halbach leave the property that day (1075:56), Mr. Avery would never have been charged with her murder pursuant to the State's theory which did not involve Mr. Avery leaving his property. According to the State, Mr. Avery discharged his firearm into Ms. Halbach's head in his garage and burned her body for hours in his burn pit after putting her vehicle by the crusher.

On March 18, 2007, Mr. Avery was convicted of first degree intentional homicide, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.0l(l)(a) and felon in possession of a firearm contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2)(a). The jury found Mr. Avery not guilty of mutilation of a corpse. (542)

On October 11, 2019, Mr. Avery appealed the circuit court's denial of his second postconviction motion and its supplements. During the pendency of the appeal, a new witness, Mr. Thomas Sowinski ("Mr. Sowinski"), contacted Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel in December of 2020. On April 10, 2021, Mr. Sowinski provided an affidavit to Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel, stating that he was a motor-route driver for Gannett Newspapers, Inc. and delivered papers to the Avery Salvage Yard in the early morning hours of November 5, 2005. Prior to delivering the newspapers, he turned onto the Avery property and witnessed two individuals, Bobby Dassey and an unidentified older male with a long beard, suspiciously pushing a dark

blue RAV-4 down Avery Road towards the junkyard. The RAV-4 did not have its lights on. Mr. Sowinski drove past and delivered newspapers to the Avery mailbox and then turned around and drove back towards the exit. When he reached the RAV-4 still there, Bobby attempted to step in front of his car to block him from leaving. Mr. Sowinski came within 5 feet of Bobby and swerved into a shallow ditch to escape Bobby and exit. After Mr. Sowinski learned that Ms. Halbach's car was found later in the day on November 5, 2005, he immediately contacted the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office. (1065:76-82). On April 12, 2021, Mr. Avery filed a motion for remand and stay of appeal to this Court containing Mr. Sowinski's original affidavit.

On July 28, 2021, this Court issued a per curiam opinion, upholding the circuit court's summary denial of Mr. Avery's claims raised in his § 974.06 motion and two supplemental motions. *State v. Avery*, 2022 WI App 7, 400 Wis. 2d 541, 970 N.W.2d 564 (1056). However, this Court instructed the following:

As discussed below, we are not addressing Avery's most recent filing to *this* court (see our discussion of Motion #6), which seeks to directly connect Dassey to Halbach's murder. If Avery wishes to raise that claim, he will need to bring a new WIS. STAT. § 974.06 motion. That motion would need to survive both *Escalona-Naranjo* scrutiny and be found to have merit—in which case, <u>the evidence presented might supply the missing "direct connection.</u>" In that event, the Velie CD evidence might become relevant to showing Dassey's motive, and might bear on whether Dassey is, or should have been, a viable *Denny* suspect.

(1056:41, emphasis added). Regarding certain claims such as the alleged *Brady* violation pertaining to the witness, Mr. Kevin Rahmlow, reporting to law enforcement his observation of Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 in the turnaround of STH 47 on November 3 and 4 of 2005, this Court made no determination as to whether it would be barred. (1056:33).

On August 16, 2022, Mr. Avery filed his third § 974.06 motion (1065, 1066-75, 1109-15 (amended motion)). His motion set forth the newly discovered evidence of Bobby seen in possession of Ms. Halbach's vehicle after her disappearance. (1065:76-82). Affidavits from two witnesses, Mr. Kevin Rahmlow and Mr. Thomas Buresh, corroborate Mr. Sowinski's observations. Mr. Rahmlow observed Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 parked at the turnaround at STH 147 and the East Twin River Bridge on November 3 and 4, 2005. (1075:58-68); he reported this to a Manitowoc Sheriff's deputy on November 4, 2005. (1075:59, ¶6). Sometime before 2 a.m. on November 5, Mr. Buresh observed Bobby driving the RAV-4 in the area of Highway 147 and County Road Q in Manitowoc County. (1120:3-5).

In his motion, Mr. Avery also raised *Brady* claims. He attached supporting documents showing Mr. Sowinski's phone call to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office was suppressed by the State (1068:1-5, 1069:1-2). Mr. Sowinski's ex-girlfriend, whom he was dating on November 5, 2005, and Mr. Sowinski both identified Mr. Sowinski's voice on a recording of a phone call made to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office on November 6, 2005 at 10:28 p.m. (1070:1-5; 1071:1-12). Pertaining to Mr. Avery's *Brady* claim concerning Mr. Rahmlow's observations, no law enforcement report was ever generated memorializing Mr. Rahmlow's conversation with the Manitowoc sheriff deputy.

The circuit court denied Mr. Avery's § 974.06 motion on August 22, 2023. (1132). Mr. Avery filed a timely notice of appeal on August 24, 2023. (1137). This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. Whether the circuit court improperly imposed a burden on Mr. Avery to conclusively prove the *Denny* motive element in order to satisfy the materiality prongs of *State v. Edmunds*, 2008 WI App 33, 308 Wis. 2d 374, 746 N.W.2d 590 and *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)?

This circuit court misapplied State v. Edmunds, 2008 WI App 33, 308 Wis. 2d

374, 746 N.W.2d 590 by requiring Mr. Avery to conclusively establish Bobby's motive to murder Ms. Halbach in his motion, *on its face*, in order to satisfy the materiality requirement of *Edmunds*.

A. Standard of Review

An appellate court reviews a circuit court's determination as to whether a defendant has established his or her right to a new trial based on newly discovered evidence for an erroneous exercise of discretion. This Court will find an erroneous exercise of discretion if the circuit court's factual findings are unsupported by the evidence or if the court applied an erroneous view of the law. *Edmunds*, 2008 WI App 33, ¶1, 308 Wis. 2d 374, 377. Here, the circuit court erred in both regards.

B. Burden of Proof

On a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.06, a defendant has the burden of proof. Wis. Stat. § 974.06(6). To obtain an evidentiary hearing on a motion for a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence, the defendant first "must show specific facts that are sufficient by clear and convincing proof" to demonstrate that: "(1) the evidence was discovered after conviction; (2) the defendant was not negligent in seeking the evidence; (3) the evidence is material to an issue in the case; and (4) the evidence is not merely cumulative." *Edmunds*, ¶13, 385.

C. Argument

The circuit court found that Mr. Avery satisfied all the elements required to admit his newly discovered evidence ("the Sowinski evidence") but for the materiality requirement of *Edmunds*. It erroneously imposed a new *Denny* requirement that Mr. Avery must establish that Bobby had a motive, by conclusive evidence, to commit the murder of Ms. Halbach to meet the *Edmunds* materiality requirement. Specifically, it stated:

A review of the record and the defendant's argument reveal that he has failed to satisfy the third standard of the *Edmonds* (sic) test as well as the motive element of the *Denny* test. With respect to the *Edmonds* (sic) test, the defendant argued that the evidence offered was material to an issue in the case because it established that there was a viable third- party suspect that could have committed the murder of Ms. Halbach, and such evidence was never presented to the jury for consideration, undermining confidence in the verdict reached. In order to meet that burden, the defendant had to prove that the evidence also met the standard set forth in *Denny* to be admissible as proof of a third party suspect. The defendant failed to establish that Bobby had the requisite motive to commit the murder of Ms. Halbach.

(1132:18). According to the circuit court, Mr. Avery would have to satisfy two tests for it to admit "the affidavit of Sowinski" into evidence. (1132:5).

The circuit court improperly found the materiality of Mr. Avery's newly discovered evidence is exclusively contingent upon its satisfaction of the *Denny* test for admissibility. In determining that Mr. Avery's new evidence could only be material to the issue of a potential third-party suspect, it completely ignored its inherent materiality to other material issues in Mr. Avery's case.

In Mr. Avery's third motion for postconviction relief, he argued,

The Sowinski evidence is material to several issues in Mr. Avery's case . . . it is material for establishing Mr. Avery's defense, that is, that a third party

committed the crime against Ms. Halbach . . . Additionally, the Sowinski evidence is material to the evidence in the RAV-4 being planted by Bobby, including Mr. Avery's blood and DNA. The RAV-4 also contained the Halbach vehicle key and Ms. Halbach's electronic devices which were discovered in Mr. Avery's bedroom and burn barrel, respectively. Further, the Sowinski evidence is material to impeach Bobby's trial testimony that Ms. Halbach never left the Avery property, and that she was last seen walking towards Mr. Avery's trailer.

(1065:16, ¶24).

The new evidence that Bobby had possession of Ms. Halbach's vehicle is highly material for evaluating the reliability of the forensic evidence used against Mr. Avery, which all happened to be derived from Ms. Halbach's vehicle. Crucially, it is also material to the credibility of the State's key eyewitness against Mr. Avery, Bobby himself.

This Court pointed out in its July 28, 2021 Opinion: "The State's theory was that Avery shot Halbach in the head, in his garage, and threw her in the cargo area of the RAV 4. He then burned the electronics and camera, cremated Halbach in a burn pit, transferred the remains to a burn barrel, and hid the RAV 4 until he could crush it in the Avery car crusher." (1056:3). Mr. Avery's new evidence shows that the vehicle left the Avery property and was in the possession of a third party. Additionally, it debunks the State's theory against Mr. Avery that he kept the RAV-4 on the Avery property by the crusher so he could crush it immediately.

The evidence of Bobby's possession of Ms. Halbach's vehicle is material because it shows that Bobby had possession of the forensic evidence used to convict Mr. Avery. The vehicle was the crime scene by virtue of having all of the relevant forensic evidence in it, including Ms. Halbach's blood. The Sowinski evidence establishes that Bobby, the State's primary eyewitness, had control of the crime scene for a period of time. Despite police searches preceding the discovery of Ms. Halbach's vehicle, her electronic devices and key were not found until after it was found. The only logical conclusion to explain this is that all the items remained in her vehicle and were then moved by whoever had possession of her vehicle.

If a third-party suspect had possession of Ms. Halbach's vehicle, numerous areas of reasonable doubt arise, such as that the forensic evidence in the vehicle is tainted by the third party having control of it *before* it was discovered by law enforcement on the Avery Property. This would have created reasonable doubt in the jurors' minds, particularly since the State's primary eyewitness was the one in possession of the vehicle. Mr. Avery's new evidence also presents an alternative theory for the source of the forensic evidence used against Mr. Avery. *See Edmunds*, ¶15, 386.

State v. Edmunds is the leading case on newly discovered evidence. In Edmunds, the defendant was convicted of the death of an infant she was caring for. The defendant filed a motion for a new trial over a decade after her trial and offered medical testimony showing a shift in mainstream medical opinion as to the cause of the types of injuries the infant suffered. The court found the evidence was material to an issue in the case because the main issue at trial was the cause of the infant's injuries, and the new medical testimony presented an alternate theory for the source of those injuries. Edmunds, ¶15, 386.

Here, applying *Edmunds*, Mr. Avery's new evidence is material to a key issue in Mr. Avery's case because Mr. Avery's new evidence, that Bobby had possession of Ms.

Halbach's vehicle after her disappearance, presents an alternative theory for the source of the evidence used to convict Mr. Avery.

The Sowinski evidence is additionally material because it completely calls into question the credibility of the State's key witness (Bobby's) testimony, which allowed the State to argue that Mr. Avery had exclusive control of Ms. Halbach and her vehicle, containing all of the forensic evidence, and that this evidence was not tainted by any third party. During its closing argument, the State emphasized the importance of Bobby's testimony, vouching for his credibility: "Again, an eyewitness without any bias. It is a [*sid*] individual that deserves to be given a lot of credit." (610:91).

With the new Sowinski evidence, as well as Mr. Rahmlow's affidavit, the State could not possibly have presented an unbiased Bobby to establish Ms. Halbach never left the property in her vehicle and that she was last seen walking towards Mr. Avery's trailer – its critical eyewitness link to obtaining Mr. Avery's conviction. Bobby was the only witness whose testimony the jury requested to "read or hear a transcript of" (1104:47). Clearly, by Bobby possessing the vehicle, there is a reasonable likelihood it would have affected the judgment of the jury in that Bobby would have emerged as a much more likely suspect in Ms. Halbach's murder than his recently released, wrongfully convicted uncle. Contrary to the State's representations to the jury, Bobby was biased and deserved no credit for his fabricated testimony.

In regard to a motion for a new trial, a reasonable doubt as to a defendant's guilt has been found to exist when the credibility of a witness critical to the State's case is completely called into question by newly discovered evidence. *State v. Wilson*, 2022

WI App 55, 404 Wis. 2d 750, 982 N.W.2d 351. "A new trial is required if the false testimony could . . . in any reasonable likelihood, have affected the judgment of the jury." *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972) (citations omitted); *see also State v. Plude*, 2008 WI 58, ¶47, 310 Wis. 2d 28, 55, 750 N.W.2d 42, 56 ("Wisconsin law has long held that impeaching evidence may be enough to warrant a new trial.").

In *State v. Plude*, the defendant presented newly discovered evidence that an expert witness lied about his credentials. *Id.*, ¶49, 56. The Supreme Court of Wisconsin found that because "[the expert witness's] testimony was a critical link in the State's case" (*Id.* ¶46, 55), "[his] quasi-medical expert testimony creates a reasonable probability that the jury hearing of [his] false testimony about his credentials would have had a reasonable doubt as to Plude's guilt." *Id.* ¶49, 56. Notably, in Justice Annette Ziegler's concurrence, she found the "new allegations" that the expert witness misrepresented his credentials created "a serious question" "as to whether the interests of justice were served." *Id.* ¶¶52-53, 57-58.

Mr. Avery presents a stronger case about the materiality of his newly discovered evidence because it shows Bobby committed perjury in his trial testimony, and it taints all of the forensic evidence used against Mr. Avery which resulted in his conviction.

In this Court's July 28, 2021 Opinion, this Court did not believe the impeachment of Bobby was material because it found significant forensic evidence linking Mr. Avery to the crime (1056:42, ¶68). However, the Sowinski affidavit establishes Bobby's possession of the Halbach vehicle which taints the forensic

16

evidence used against Mr. Avery. This strengthens the materiality of the impeachment evidence against Bobby.

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