Filed 04-15-2024

Page 1 of 42

FILED 04-15-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2023AP1556

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A WIS. STAT. § 974.06 MOTION ENTERED IN THE MANITOWOC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ANGELA W. SUTKIEWICZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Motive is a permissible purpose for introducing other acts evidence. Id. But as explained, none of what Avery presented is relevant to show motive to commit this particular crime. State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8, ¶¶ 22–26, 39–40, 306 Wis. 2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867. This Court already determined that Avery's contention that these images are similar to the murder of Ms. Halbach was false. (R. 1056:41 n.25.) The pornography and videos of murder and mutilation deemed relevant in *Dressler* were indisputably Dressler's, they closely tracked what happened to the victim in that case, and were collected by the defendant long before the murder occurred. See Dressler, 238 F.3d at 910-14. Nothing about an unidentified person searching a communal computer for various types of pornography and pictures of race car accidents or drowning victims months after Ms. Halbach's murder occurred shows an interest in anything similar to this crime, nor makes it any more or less likely that Bobby Dassey (or anyone else, for that matter) had a motive to shoot and kill Ms. Halbach in October 2005. The computer contents are simply not relevant. These searches and images would be excluded as other acts evidence because, without some closer tie to the events of October 31, 2005, their prejudicial value would greatly outweigh whatever minimal relevance they might have and influence the jury to convict because they

believed whomever conducted the distasteful searches must be a bad person. *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 783.

Avery's claim that the circuit court "ignored Mr. Avery's evidence of Dassey computer deletions, which infers consciousness of guilt," similarly rests on no foundation. (Avery's Br. 25.) Avery offered nothing showing how or who made any deletions or why they mattered; he again simply relied on his unfounded claims that this pornography closely resembled this crime, which this Court previously found "wholly stray[ed] from the facts" (R. 1056:41 n.25), and an unsupported contention that Bobby Dassey was responsible for deleting it (R. 1065:19–20). Avery's insistence that these "deletions" were made by Bobby and show "consciousness of guilt" is, as usual, no more than unsupported guesswork grounded in presuming the conclusion Avery provided no facts to prove. (R. 1065:19–20; Avery's Br. 25.)

That law enforcement were seeking evidence of motive (among other things) in their search warrant affidavit cannot carry the load Avery assigns it, either. (Avery's Br. 22–24.) Police seizing and analyzing the computer seeking evidence of motive does not mean that anything they found ipso facto is evidence of motive, as Avery appears to believe. (Avery's Br. 22–24.) Law enforcement investigating a murder search for anything that could conceivably be relevant to the case; vast portions of what the police collect is later determined to of no importance. Avery's contention that law be enforcement's reporting about this pornography means the pornography's mere existence establishes that Bobby had a motive to commit this crime is pure speculation, which Avery did not factually connect to Bobby or show has any similarity to this crime with any evidence at all. (Avery's Br. 23; R. 1065:18–20.)

It is not the State's burden on Avery's third collateral motion to "eliminate" Bobby as the individual who made the searches nor to definitively disprove any of the rest of Avery's specious conjecture. (Avery's Br. 24.) It is Avery's burden to provide facts in his motion showing that he could prove at a hearing that Bobby was responsible for these searches and that they would actually establish a motive for this murder. With no facts pled that could establish that: (1) Bobby conducted these searches and viewed this pornography; (2) that it was at all relevant, let alone similar to, what happened to the victim in this case; and (3) that they were conducted before the murder occurred; the circuit court was correct that Avery failed to approach the threshold of making factually-supported motive argument.¹⁰ plausible. a (R. 1132:20.)

> 3. The circuit court properly found that Avery failed to plead facts showing that Bobby Dassey had the opportunity to commit this crime or stage this scene.

"The second prong of the 'legitimate tendency' test asks whether the alleged third-party perpetrator *could have* committed the crime in question." *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 65. Evaluation of this prong is guided by the defense's theory of the third party's involvement in the crime. *Id.* ¶ 68. Sometimes, opportunity can be established by simply showing

¹⁰ As the State will explain, Avery utterly failed to prove opportunity as required by *Wilson*, and his purportedly "powerful direct connection evidence" amounts to no evidence at all. (Avery's Br. 27–28.) They thus do nothing to affect the evaluation of his alleged motive evidence. (Avery's Br. 28.) Additionally, Avery's throwaway supposition that Sowinski's allegations "offers evidence that the motive could have even been a robbery" was not presented to the circuit court and is therefore forfeited. (Avery's Br. 28; R. 1065:18–24.)

the third party was at the crime scene. *Id.* ¶ 65. When, as here, the theory of how the third party committed the crime requires that person to have carried out a series of complicated and difficult tasks, it is not enough to show the third party's mere presence at the scene and an unaccounted-for period of time. *Id.* ¶¶ 10, 65, 68, 81–85.

In this situation, to meet the opportunity prong, the defendant has to offer evidence that the alleged third-party perpetrator had the skills, contacts, tools, time, and/or other means necessary to have committed the crime and staged the scene in the manner the defendant alleges—in other words, "evidence that the third party had the realistic ability to engineer such a scenario." *Id.* ¶¶ 10, 83, 85, 90; *see also State v. Krider*, 202 P.3d 722, 729 (Kan. Ct. App. 2009) (holding that a third-party's possible access to hair and blood samples from the victim was mere conjecture insufficient to establish opportunity to frame the defendant). The circuit court appropriately concluded that Avery's submissions did not meet this threshold. (R. 1132:21–25.)

Avery claims that "the opportunity element has already been decided" because pretrial in 2007, the circuit court found opportunity by virtue of Bobby's presence on the property. (Avery's Br. 33.) But that fails to acknowledge that Avery's "defense theory" has changed drastically from the time of trial. (R. 1065:25.) Then, his contention was that he was framed by law enforcement, who had plenty of time, knowledge, and access to the evidence to plausibly doctor the crime scene—to meet the opportunity prong then, he only had to show that the alleged third-party perpetrator had the opportunity to *kill the victim*, because his theory was that the police framed him. Now, he claims his nephew Bobby Dassey planted all of the evidence against him, and did so in a very short time period. (Avery's Br. 29-37.) That means to sufficiently plead his motion on opportunity, he had to provide more than just a showing that Bobby was physically present

and "had access to" the evidence. (R. 1065:25–26); *Krider*, 202 P.3d at 729. He had to provide facts showing that Bobby had the "realistic ability to engineer such a scenario," meaning a realistic ability to both commit the murder and then complete each step of this framing process, and to do so before November 5. *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 10. And Avery did not provide facts that would establish at least four key components necessary to sufficiently plead that Bobby had the opportunity to kill the victim and plant all the evidence against Avery: the "why," the "when," the "where," and the "how."

Assuming for the sake of argument that Avery had pled facts that would establish Bobby's motive to kill in the first place (and as explained, he did not), Avery did not offer anything that would suggest *why* Bobby would want to frame Avery, especially given the grave risks and extreme difficulty of doing so. (R. 1065:24-27); see Krider, 202 P.3d at 729. Anyone who murders someone typically wants to escape detection. But that does not explain why Bobby would frame Avery for it, especially when doing so would ensure that law enforcement would be taking an intense look at the entire property and everyone who lived on it. He offered no reason why Bobby would want to send him to prison. (R. 1065:24-27.) Nor has Avery explained why someone who wanted to frame him would go to such lengths to *hide* the evidence. Surely if Bobby or anyone else wanted to frame Avery, they wouldn't have gone out of their way to make all of the evidence difficult for law enforcement to detect, gather, and connect to Avery—it makes no sense to burn the victim's remains and personal property in an attempt to conceal them, or to drip Avery's blood around the RAV-4 but then remove the license plate from and attempt to hide the vehicle by covering it with debris far away from Avery's trailer. Avery provided no facts explaining why Bobby Dassey's framing him is plausible

when he has given no reason whatsoever explaining why Bobby would do this. (R. 1065:24–27.)

More importantly, Avery's argument fundamentally failed on the "when" and the "how" Bobby could have committed the murder or planted any of the evidence. He provided nothing that could plausibly establish that Bobby had the knowledge, skills, tools, or time to engineer this elaborate ruse. (R. 1065:24–27.) The mere fact that Bobby was on the Avery property at some time when Avery's hand was bleeding falls far short of facts necessary to establish that Bobby had the opportunity to successfully orchestrate this extremely complicated supposed frame-up. (R. 1065:26); see Wilson, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 85 (third party's presence at the scene of a shooting was insufficient to show that the third party had the contacts and resources necessary to have had the opportunity to orchestrate a "hit" on the victim). The complete absence of the necessary facts to support several crucial elements of how Bobby could have accomplished staging this scene demonstrate that Avery failed to plead sufficient facts to show that Bobby had any opportunity to kill the victim and frame Avery in this manner. See id. ¶ 69.

Avery offered no facts at all in his motion that would establish *how* Bobby Dassey—an 18-year-old high-school graduate with no criminal record whatsoever and who was working third shift at a furniture factory (R. 581:34–35):

(1) managed to steal, at some unidentified time prior to October 31, the rifle hanging above Avery's bed with which the victim was shot, and at some other unidentified time before November 5 managed to replace it, with Avery's never noticing (R. 594:92–93, 100–02, 108–12; 596:134–38; 597:163–65; 601:88–89, 100–03, 107–18; 1065:24–27);

(2) could have abducted and killed the victim and hidden both her body and her car in some unspecified area in the minutes between her arrival on the property and Scott Tadych passing Bobby Dassey on the highway around 3:00 p.m. on October 31, 2005 (nor did Avery provide any facts to establish where the killing could have happened apart from a nondescript "in the [RAV-4]," or where Bobby could have hidden the RAV-4 and the victim's remains in this short period of time) (R. 581:36–45; 599:123–24; 1065:24–27);

(3) had the scientific sophistication and knowledge necessary for it to occur to Bobby to collect, transport, and plant Avery's blood from his sink and—as Avery completely overlooked in his motion—his non-blood touch DNA on the hood latch of victim's RAV-4 and her keys, or how Bobby acquired the skills and knowledge to do this successfully (R. 597:122–23, 125–26, 168–83, 185–96; 1065:24–27);

(4) had a convenient stash of unidentified instruments capable of collecting and transporting liquid blood and touch DNA on hand or what those might have been (R. 1065:24–27);

(5) planted the keys to the RAV-4 in Avery's trailer unnoticed and at some unspecified time between November 3 and November 5, yet also either managed to move the RAV-4 off of the 40-acre property without the keys or drive it away and return on foot from wherever he supposedly took it and then sneak into Avery's trailer again to hide the keys, at some other unidentified time, once again unnoticed¹¹ (R. 596:35–36; 1065:24–27);

(6) found, and then planted, a tiny, mangled bullet fragment that Bobby inexplicably knew had the victim's DNA on it underneath items in Avery's garage, or alternatively how he shot the victim in Avery's garage on October 31 and then

¹¹ This is also completely inconsistent with Avery's allegation that Buresh saw Bobby driving what Avery contends was the victim's RAV-4 in the morning hours of November 5, and Avery did not attempt to explain at any point when or how Bobby could have planted the key in his home if Buresh's information were true. (R. 1065.)

at another unidentified time scrubbed the scene with Avery remaining unaware—this despite Avery indisputably having been working on his Suzuki and other vehicles in and around the garage around this time (R. 581:48; 594:99–100; 596:134– 39, 185–86; 597:163–68; 1065:24–27);

(7) burned the victim's body in some undisclosed location and then moved the remains to Avery's burn pit, again completely undetected, and did it so thoroughly as to include "at least a fragment or more of almost every bone below the neck" in the entire human skeleton, along with the rivets from her jeans (nor did Avery provide any facts showing where and when this occurred) (R. 596:160–64; 597:38–40; 600:166; 1065:24–27);

(8) convinced his younger brother Brendan to go along with this plan and fabricate a confession implicating not only Avery but also *himself*, or why Brendan would do so (R. 179:172–86; 1065:24–27).

Even if one accepts at face value Avery's theory that Bobby was scientifically sophisticated and equipped enough for it to occur to him to do all of this blood-evidence-gatheringand-planting, Avery provided nothing that would explain how Bobby could have done so in the roughly half an hour before the blood would have coagulated or dried while Avery was at Menards on November 3. (R. 1065:24–29.) And Avery did not plead even a single fact to establish how or when Bobby could have planted any of the rest of the mountain of forensic evidence against Avery, particularly the victim's remains, the non-blood DNA evidence, and the bullet, and also successfully eliminate from the scene any trace of his own involvement or physical presence. (R. 597:127–32, 175–76, 182–96; 1065:24– 29.)

Page 29 of 42

In sum, Avery provided no facts in his motion that would establish why Bobby would want to frame him or when, where, or how Bobby could have even possibly accomplished any of the necessary tasks to make this theory plausible. (R. 1065:24–27.) He supplied nothing other than a series of constantly-shifting affidavits about his and others' activities during the relevant time frame and then backfilled it with speculation—with zero factual support—about how a small fraction of the evidence against him (the blood and the car only) could have ended up where it was if someone else was the perpetrator, and pretended the rest of the evidence does not exist. (R. 1065:24–27; 179:22–30; 965:2–7; 1071; 1097; 1120:3–5.) That is flatly insufficient to provide facts that could show that Bobby had the opportunity to engineer this complicated scheme. *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 10.

Avery has attempted to cure this failure on appeal by offering up his previous statements about what his experts purportedly found regarding the physical evidence, which this Court already rejected as misleading and irrelevant speculation. (Avery's Br. 36–37; R. 1056:17–22, 25–28.) Avery did not provide these theories to the circuit court, so they couldn't form the basis for relief now even if they had some substance. (R. 1065:24-27); Schonscheck v. Paccar, Inc., 2003 WI App 79, ¶ 11, 261 Wis. 2d 769, 661 N.W.2d 476. Regardless, inaccurate statements and speculation do not even show possibility. Wilson, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶¶ 10, 83. Avery further misses the point when he contends he was "less qualified to commit the murder than Bobby" because he had less education and never held a job. (Avery's Br. 36.) Obviously, no qualifications are required to commit murder. But if Avery wants to contend a specific person committed this murder and then framed him for it, he has to provide facts plausibly showing that the person was actually capable of doing so and also capable of staging all of the evidence. He did not come close.

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